

MEDIA LAW



London • Sydney

MEDIA LAW

Sallie Spilsbury

Solicitor, Senior Lecturer in Law Manchester Metropolitan University



First published in Great Britain 2000 by Cavendish Publishing Limited, The Glass House, Wharton Street, London WC1X 9PX, United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 (0)20 7278 8000 Facsimile: +44 (0)20 7278 8080

Email: info@cavendishpublishing.com Website: www.cavendishpublishing.com

© Spilsbury, S 2000

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except under the terms of the Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or under the terms of a licence issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency, 90 Tottenham Court Road, London W1P 9HE, UK, without the permission in writing of the publisher.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

Spilsbury, Sallie Media law in theory and practice 1 Mass media – law and legislation – Great Britain I Title 343.4'1'099

ISBN 185941530X

Printed and bound in Great Britain

CONTENTS

Ta	able of Cases	χυ
	able of Statutes	xxix
	able of Statutory Instruments	xxxv
	ible of International Instruments	xxxvii
	PART 1	
1		
1	THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 AND THE MEDIA	3
	THE CONVENTION	3
	THE POSITION UNDER ENGLISH LAW BEFORE THE ACT	_
	CAME INTO FORCE THE SCHEME OF THE ACT	5 6
	THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ACT	6
	Interpretation	6
	Redress for unlawful acts of public authorities	12
	Time limit for bringing an action	13
	Remedies	13
	Impact of the Act	14
	THE CONVENTION RIGHTS	14
	The Approach of the European Court of Human Rights	
	to Art 8 and Art 10	16
	The right to freedom of expression (Art 10)	20
	Journalists' sources	22
	Duties and responsibilities	22
	The development of a right to privacy in the wake of the Human Rights Act 1998	27
	Tulitan Rights Act 1770	21
2	REMEDIES	33
	PRIVATE LAW	33
	(a) Monetary compensation	33
	(b) Delivery up	42
	(c) Injunctions	42
	PUBLIC LAW	54
	Judicial review	54
3	DEFAMATION	59
	THE CIVIL LAW	59
	What is defamation?	60
	Determining whether the meaning is defamatory:	
	applying the tests	63
	The claimant's burden of proof in defamation	
	actions	73
	Identification	73

Publication	76
Libel and slander	76
Who may sue for defamation?	77
Who may be sued?	81
The defence of innocent publication	82
Defamation and limitation	86
OTHER DEFENCES TO DEFAMATION CLAIMS	86
Defences involving proof of truth: justification and	
fair comment	86
Justification: statements of fact	86
Fair comment: statements of opinion –	
'the critic's most valuable defence'	91
Privilege	97
Absolute privilege	97
Qualified privilege	98
The meaning of malice	98
DUTY AND INTEREST: A DEFENCE FOR PUBLICATIONS	
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST?	107
An analysis of the Court of Appeal and House of Lords'	
judgments	108
The relationship between malice and qualified privilege	114
Offer of amends defence	117
Consent	121
Summary procedure	121
THE OVERRIDING OBJECTIVE	122
APPLICATION BY THE COURT OF THE OVERRIDING	
OBJECTIVE	123
COURT'S DUTY TO MANAGE CASES	123
Parliamentary privilege	125
REMEDIES	127
Damages	127
Injunctions	136
Apology	137
International defamation	137
The Conventions	138
Non-Convention States	139
Further guidance	140
A right to a jury trial?	142
THE CRIMINAL LAW	146
Leave to prosecute	148

Contents

4	MALICIOUS FALSEHOOD	153
	ESTABLISHING MALICIOUS FALSEHOOD	153
	The defendant has published an untrue statement of fact	
	about the claimant	153
	The defendant published the words maliciously	153
	The words have caused the claimant pecuniary loss as a	
	natural and direct result of the publication	154
	MALICIOUS FALSEHOOD – SOME TERMINOLOGY	156
	Trade libel (also known as slander of goods)	157
	Slander of title	157
	Other types of malicious falsehood	157
	Remedies for malicious falsehood	162
5	BREACH OF CONFIDENCE	167
	The basis of the action for breach of confidence	168
	Defining the action	169
	Identifying the confidence	170
	The 'necessary quality' of confidence	171
	Breach of confidence and particular types of confidential	
	information	172
	Injunctions to restrain the publication of information which is	
	or will shortly be in the public domain	180
	The information must have been imparted in circumstances	
	importing an obligation of confidence	184
	Unauthorised disclosure of the confidential information	199
	Who can sue for breach of confidence?	200
	The disclosure of confidential information in the public interest	201
	Breach of confidence and privacy	212
6	PROPERTY RIGHTS AND FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION	215
	COPYRIGHT, DESIGN RIGHT, MORAL RIGHTS AND	
	PERFORMERS' RIGHTS	215
	(a) Copyright	215
	Copyright works	217
	Originality	224
	Fixation	225
	Copyright in ideas	226
	Copyright in titles, slogans, catchphrases and character names	227
	Copyright in conversations and interviews	229
	Copyright in a recording of a literary, dramatic and musical work	
	Duration of copyright – a guide	230
	Who owns copyright?	231
	Dealings with copyright works	237

	Infringements of copyright	242
	Has there been a reproduction of the work?	244
	Issuing copies of the work to the public	250
	Renting or lending the work to the public	251
	Performing, showing or playing the work in public	252
	Broadcasting the work or including it in a cable	
	programme service	252
	The making of an adaptation of the work	253
	Secondary infringements	255
	Acts of secondary infringement	255
	Permitted uses of copyright works	257
	Other permitted uses	270
	Protecting your copyright	276
	Avoiding copyright infringement: a case study	277
	CRIMINAL OFFENCES	279
	COPYRIGHT IN DATABASES AND DATABASE RIGHT	279
	Copyright and Rights in Databases Regulations 1997	
	SI 1997/3032 ('the Regulations')	279
	PUBLICATION RIGHT	281
	THE FUTURE: COPYRIGHT AND DIGITAL MEDIA	282
	Amended proposal on copyright and related rights in	
	the information society (COM (99) 250 final)	282
	(b) Moral rights	285
	Performance rights	292
7	THE PROTECTION OF TELEVISION FORMATS	297
	COPYRIGHT PROTECTION	297
	Copyright works	297
	Copyright infringement	299
	Hints and tips under copyright law	299
	BREACH OF CONFIDENCE	300
	The obligation of confidence	300
8	PRIVACY AND THE MEDIA	303
	THE CONCEPT OF PRIVACY: WHAT IS PROTECTED?	303
	The law in England pre-Human Rights Act	306
	RIGHT TO PRIVACY OF CERTAIN PHOTOGRAPHS	
	AND FILMS	307
	HARASSMENT	308
	The Protection from Harassment Act 1997	308
	Harassment and the common law	309
	DATA PROTECTION	310

Contents

	INDIRECT PROTECTION FOR PRIVACY VIA THE	
	ENFORCEMENT OF INTERESTS IN LAND	310
	THE REGULATION OF THE INTERCEPTION OF	
	COMMUNICATIONS	312
	REPORTING RESTRICTIONS AND THE COURTS	313
	PRIVACY BY ANY OTHER NAME	313
	PRIVACY AND THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998	314
	PRIVACY AND THE REGULATORY CODES	315
	The press	315
	Private places	319
	Children	321
	The Broadcasting Standards Commission	321
	The ITC Code	323
	The BBC producers' guidelines	324
	The Committee of Advertising Practice Code of Practice	325
	Judicial review, the Codes and privacy	325
	THE ROLE OF THE CODES OF PRACTICE IN THE FUTURE	328
9	DATA PROTECTION AND THE MEDIA	331
	THE DATA PROTECTION ACT 1998	331
	Terminology	331
	The Data Protection Commissioner	334
	The data protection principles	334
	The first data protection principle	334
	The fair processing code	335
	The second data protection principle	340
	The third principle	341
	The fourth principle	341
	The fifth principle	341
	The sixth principle	341
	The seventh principle	341
	The eighth principle	342
	The rights of the data subject in relation to the processing	
	of personal data	342
	Exemptions under the Act	344
	A summary of the Commissioner's powers under the	
	provisions of the Act	348
10	THE MEDIA AND OPEN JUSTICE	351
	REPORTING COURT PROCEEDINGS	351
	CONTEMPT OF COURT – PREJUDICING A FAIR TRIAL	351
	(a) Strict liability contempt – the Contempt of Court Act 1981	351
	Substantial risk and serious prejudice – the law in practice	353

	Substantial risk of serious prejudice – applying the test	354
	Publicity during the trial	361
	Proceedings which do not take place before a jury	361
	Defences to the strict liability rule	362
	(b) Common law contempt	365
	Contempt of court and the Human Rights Act 1998	368
	Penalties for strict liability and intentional contempt	369
	REPORTING RESTRICTIONS	370
	Open justice	370
	Postponing media reports	373
	Anonymity for victims of sex offences	376
	Committal hearings	377
	CHILDREN AND YOUNG PERSONS	378
	Civil proceedings	378
	Criminal proceedings	378
	REPORTING RESTRICTIONS AND INTIMIDATED	
	AND VULNERABLE PERSONS	381
11	DISCLOSURE OF JOURNALISTS' SOURCES	385
	Hints and tips for the media	397
12	MORALITY AND THE MEDIA: OBSCENITY, INDECENCY,	
14	BLASPHEMY AND SEDITION	399
	OBSCENITY	399
	INDECENCY OFFENCES	407
	Common law	407
	Statutory indecency offences	410
	BLASPHEMY (OR BLASPHEMOUS LIBEL)	416
	SEDITIOUS LIBEL	420
	BROADCASTERS AND TASTE AND MORALITY	421
13	GOVERNMENT SECRECY AND FREEDOM	
	OF INFORMATION	423
	OFFICIAL SECRETS	423
	Statutory restraints	423
	The Official Secrets Act 1911	423
	Section 1 of the Official Secrets Act 1920	426
	The Official Secrets Act 1989	426
	The DA notice system	434

Contents

14	CHARACTER MERCHANDISING AND ENDORSEMENTS	435
	CONTROLLING THE USE TO WHICH AN IMAGE IS PUT	435
	THE LEGAL RESTRICTIONS	436
	(a) Defamation	436
	(b) Malicious falsehood	437
	(c) Copyright and moral rights	438
	(d) Design rights and merchandising	441
	(e) Passing off	449
	(f) Registered trade mark registration	456
	(g) The Trade Descriptions Act 1968	459
	(h) The advertising codes of practice	459
15	COMPETITIONS	463
	WHAT IS A LOTTERY?	463
	Example of an illegal lottery	463
	How to ensure that a promotion is not an illegal lottery	464
	Ensuring that prizes are not distributed by chance	464
	Removal of the requirement for contribution	465
	The criminal offences relating to lotteries	467
	Who can be liable?	468
	PART 2	
16	EXTRA-JUDICIAL REGULATION OF MEDIA CONTENT	471
	THE PRESS COMPLAINTS COMMISSION AND THE	
	EDITORS' CODE OF PRACTICE	471
	THE BROADCASTING STANDARDS COMMISSION	478
	Advertising	481
	THE INDEPENDENT TELEVISION COMMISSION CODES OF	
	ADVERTISING STANDARDS AND PRACTICE AND	
	PROGRAMME SPONSORSHIP	485
	THE ITC CODE OF ADVERTISING STANDARDS	
	AND PRACTICE	488
	General principles	488
	THE RADIO AUTHORITY ADVERTISING AND	400
	SPONSORSHIP CODE	489
	The Codes and the courts	489
	Benefits of the regulatory system	491

PART 3

17	TYPICAL CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS	497
	BOILERPLATE CLAUSES	497
	Entire agreement clause	497
	Choice of governing law clause	498
	Choice of jurisdiction clause	498
	Arbitration clause	498
	Service of notices	498
	Severance	498
	LICENCE AGREEMENTS	499
	The parties	500
	The territory covered by the licence	500
	The licence term	500
	Termination provisions	500
	The rights which are being licensed	501
	The consideration for the grant of the licence	501
	Obligations on the licensee	502
	Warranties from the licensor	503
	Moral rights	503
	PROVISIONS IN A TYPICAL BOOK PUBLISHING CONTRACT	504
	The rights granted to the publisher by the author	504
	The date for delivery of the book to the publishers	504
	The conditions for acceptance and approval of the book	
	by the publisher	504
	Competing works	504
	Warranties and indemnities	505
	Reservation of the right to alter the book	506
	Rights clearance	506
	A procedure for correction of proof copies of the book	506
	Consideration payable to the author	507
	ASSIGNMENTS OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS	524
	ASSIGNMENT	524
	CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENTS	528
	ADVERTISING AGENCY AGREEMENTS	529
	The agency's duties towards the client	529

Contents

18 CLEARING RIGHTS		533
GENERAL POINTS		533
Copyright		533
Moral rights		535
Clearance of music and sou	und recordings	536
Clearing film clips		540
Clearance issues and insur	ance cover	541
Index		543

TABLE OF CASES

Adam v Ward [1917] AC 309	104, 105
Aitken v Preston [1997] EMLR 415	146
American Cyanamid v Ethicon (1975) AC 396, HL	45–48, 51–54, 164
Amoena v Trulife (1995) unreported	447, 448
An Inquiry under Company Securities (Insider Dealing)	
Act 1985, Re [1988] AC 660; [1988] 2 WLR 33;	
[1988] 1 All ER 203; [1988] 2 WLR 33	374, 389, 391
Argyll v Argyll [1965] 1 All ER 611	173
Aspro Travel Ltd v Owners Abroad Group plc	
[1996] 1 WLR 132	63
Athletes Foot Marketing Inc v Cobra Sports	
[1980] RPC 343	
AG v Associated Newspapers	
(1997) unreported	369
AG v Birmingham Post and Mail	
[1998] 4 All ER 49	
AG v Blake [1998] 1 All ER 833	199
AG v Channel Four	
(1987) The Times, 18 December	362
AG v English [1982] 2 All ER 903;	
[1982] 2 WLR 959	.352, 354, 363, 364, 374
AG v Guardian Newspapers (No 2)	
(Spycatcher case) [1990] AC 109;	
[1988] 3 All ER 545	
	172, 180, 182, 183,
	185, 197–201, 203, 210, 211, 273, 274
AG v Hat Trick [1997] EMLR 76	
AG v Independent Television News Ltd	
[1995] 2 All ER 370	352 356 360
AG v Jonathan Cape [1976] QB 752;	
[1975] 3 All ER 484	21 80 210 211
AG v Leveller Magazine [1979] AC 440	
AG v MGN and Others (Knights case)	
[1997] 1 All ER 456	354–58.362.369
AG v News Group Newspapers	
(The Sun case) [1986] 2 All ER 833	54–57, 363, 365–67, 370
AG v Newspaper Publishing plc	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
[1987] 3 All ER 276	48, 49

AG v Piers Morgan and News Group	
Newspapers (News of the World case)	
(1997) Independent Legal Reports	358, 359, 369
AG v Secretary of State for the Home	
Department ex p Brind [1991] 1 AC 696	
AG v Sports Newspapers [1992] 1 All ER 503	
AG v Times Newspapers [1974] AC 273	364
AG v TVS Television (1989) The Times, 7 July	364
AG v Unger [1998] Cr App R 308	354, 359
AG's Reference (No 3 of 1977)	
[1978] 3 All ER 1166	406
AG's Reference (No 5 of 1980)	
[1980] 3 All ER 816	400
BBC v BSB [1991] 3 WLR 174; [1991] 3 All ER 833	215, 261, 269
BBC Worldwide Ltd v Pally Screen Printing Ltd	
(Teletubbies decision) [1998] FSR 665	
Barclays Bank plc v RBS Advanta [1996] RPC 307	159
Baron Bernstein v Skyviews [1978] QB 479	311
Barrymore v News Group Newspapers [1997] FSR 600	171, 173, 174, 177
Beach v Freeson [1972] 1 QB 14	106
Begum Aga Khan and His Highness the Aga Khan	
v Daily Mail (1998) PCC adjudication, 16 July	319
Beloff v Pressdram [1973] 1 All ER 241	
Berezovsky v Forbes Inc [1999] EMLR 278, CA;	
[2000] 2 All ER 986, HL	140, 142
Berkoff v Burchill [1996] 4 All ER 1010	61, 63, 70
Beta Construction v Channel Four Television	
[1990] 2 All ER 1012	144–46
Biotrading and Financing OY	
v Biohit Ltd [1998] FSR 109, CA	245
Blackshaw v Lord [1983] 2 All ER 311	108
Bladet Tromso-Stensaas v Norway (1999) 28 EHRR 534	
Blair v Mail on Sunday (1999) PCC adjudication, 20 July	321
Bonnard v Perryman [1891] 2 Ch 269	137, 163, 164
Bookbinder v Tebbit [1989] 1 All ER 1169, CA	69
Boscobell Paints v Bigg [1975] FSR 42	137, 163
Boucher v R (1951) 2 DLR 369	420
Bridgman v Stockdale [1953] 1 All ER 1166	
British Steel Corpn v Granada Television Ltd [1981] AC 1096	202, 386

Table of Cases

British Coal Corpn v National Union of	
Mineworkers (1996) unreported	
Burberrys v JC Cording (1909) 26 RPC 693	228, 440, 449
Burrell, Paul v The Express on Sunday	
(1998) PCC adjudication, 3 May	
Byrne v Dean [1937] 2 All ER 204	71
CBS Songs v Amstrad [1988] RPC 567	254
CMI-Centers for Medical Innovation GmbH	
v Phytopharm plc [1999] FSR 235	170, 528
Cable and Wireless plc v BT plc [1998] FSR 383	158
Calder Ltd v Powell [1965] 1 QB 509	
Cambridge Nutrition Ltd v BBC [1990] 3 All ER 523	53
Camelot Group v Centaur Ltd [1998] 2 WLR 379;	
[1999] QB 124; [1998] 1 All ER 251	
Cantor Fitzgerald v Tradition (UK) Ltd [2000] RPC 95	243
Capital and Counties Bank Ltd	
v Henty (1882) 7 App Cas 741	
Carflow Products (UK) Ltd v Linwood Securities	
(Birmingham) Ltd [1998] FSR 424	
Cassell v Broome [1972] 1 AC 1027	
Cassidy v Daily Mirror Newspapers Ltd [1929] 2 KB 331	
Castells v Spain (1992) 14 EHRR 445	
Celanese International Corpn	
v BP Chemicals [1999] RPC 203	
Chada v Dow Jones and Co Inc [1999] EMLR 724, CA	141
Chandler v DPP [1962] 3 All ER 142	424, 425
Charleston v News Group Newspapers [1995] 2 All ER 313	68,70
Christoffer v Poseidon Films (1999) unreported	
Ciba-Geigy plc v Parke Davis and Co Ltd [1994] FSR 8	159
Clark v Associated Newspapers [1998] RPC 261	
Coco v AN Clark (Engineers) Ltd	
(1969) 86 RPC 41; [1968] FSR 415	
184	, 186, 200, 300
Coflexip SA v Stolt Comex Seaway Ltd [1999] FSR 473	43
Commonwealth of Australia v John Fairfax and Sons Ltd	
(1980) 32 ALR 485	
Compaq v Dell [1992] FSR 93	164
Consorzio del Prosciutto di Parma v Marks & Spencer	
[1991] RPC 351	164

Cook v Alexander [1974] 1 QB 28010)4
Cook v Ward (1830) 6 Bing 409	21
Cork v McVicar (1984) The Times, 31 October)8
Corpn of America v Harpbond [1983] FSR 3244	10
Council of Civil Service Unions v Minister for the Civil Service [1984] 3 All ER 935	24
Creation Records Ltd v News Group Newspapers Ltd	. 1
[1997] EMLR 444	19
Cruise v Express Newspapers plc [1999] QB 931, CA	
Davies v Sumner [1984] 1 WLR 1301	56
De Beers Abrasive Products Ltd v International General	
Electric Co of New York Ltd [1975] 2 All ER 599	50
De Maudsley v Palumbo [1996] FSR 447	
Derbyshire CC v Times Newspapers Ltd	
[1993] 1 All ER 1011; [1993] 2 WLR 449 60, 77–79, 80, 87, 21	0
Designers' Guild v Russell Williams [2000] FSR 121	16
Desmond v Thorne [1982] 3 All ER 268	
DPP v Beate Uhse (UK) Ltd [1974] 1 All ER 753	
DPP v Bradfute Associates Ltd [1967] 2 QB 291	
DPP v Selvanayagam (1999) The Times, 23 June	
DPP v Whyte	
See Whyte v DPP—	
Distillers Co v Thompson [1971] AC 458	39
Drummond-Jackson v British Medical Association	
[1970] 1 All ER 1094	37
Du Boulay v Dy Boulay (1869) LR 2, PC	0
Dunlop Pneumatic Tyre Company v Maison Talbot	
(1904) 20 TLR 579	54
Eastwood v Holmes (1858) 1 F & F 347	' 4
Egger v Chelmsford [1964] 3 All ER 406	00
Elanco v Mandops [1979] FSR 46	7
Elvis Presley Trade Marks, Re [1997] RPC 543	
Emaco Ltd v Dyson Appliances	
(1999) The Times, 8 February	4,
158, 161, 16	2
Ex p Central Television [1991] 1 WLR 4	' 4
Ex p Telegraph plc [1993] 1 WLR 980	57

Table of Cases

Express Newspapers v Liverpool Daily Post [1985] 1 WLR 1089	166
Express Newspapers v News (UK) plc [1991] FSR 36	
Exxon v Exxon Insurance Consultants International Ltd	
[1982] Ch 119; [1981] 3 All ER 241	217, 228, 229
FSS Travel and Leisure Systems	
v Johnson [1999] FSR 505, CA	190
Faccenda Chicken v Fowler [1986] FSR 291	
Fairie v Reed (1994) unreported	
Farmers' Build v Carier Bulk Material [1998] All ER (D) 681	
Fielding v Variety Inc [1967] 2 All ER 497	
Francis Day and Hunter v Twentieth Century	
Fox Film Corpn [1940] AC 112	227, 228
Francis, Day and Hunter v Bron [1963] Ch 587	
Francome v Mirror Group [1984] 2 All ER 408	176, 177, 207, 208
Franklin v Giddens [1978] Qd R 72	
Fraser v Evans [1969] 1 All ER 8	169, 185, 201
Fraser v Thames Television (Rock Follies case)	
[1983] 2 All ER 101	177, 179, 198, 236, 300
Fylde Microsystems v Key Radio [1998] FSR 449	230, 234
Garden Cottage Foods v Milk Marketing Board [1984] AC 130	46
Gartside v Outram (1856) 26 LJ Ch 113	202
Gerber v Lectra [1995] RPC 383	
Gillick v BBC [1996] EMLR 267	59
Gleaves v Deakin [1980] AC 477	148, 151
Godfrey v Demon Internet Ltd [1999] EMLR 542	
Godfrey v Lees [1995] EMLR 307	235
Gold Star Publications Ltd v DPP [1981] 2 All ER 257, HL	401
Goldsmith v Bhoyrul [1998] QB 459	67,78
Goldsmith v Pressdram [1987] 3 All ER 485	
Goodwin v UK (1996) 22 EHRR 123	22, 385, 390, 396
Gorman v Mudd [1992] CA Transcript 1076	129
Grappelli v Derek Block (Holdings) Ltd [1981] 2 All ER 272	
Green v Broadcasting Corpn of New Zealand	
(Opportunity Knocks case) [1989] 2 All ER 1056	

Hadley v Kemp [1999] EMLR 539	
Halford v UK (1997) 24 EHRR 523	
Halliwell and Others v Panini (1997) unreported	453
Hamilton v Al Fayer [19990] 3 All ER 317, CA;	
[2000] 2 All ER 224, HL	127
Handyside v UK (1976) 1 EHRR 737	
Harman v Osborne (1967) 2 All ER 324	248
Heath v Humphreys (1990) unreported	100
Hector v AG of Antigua and Barbuda [1990] 2 All ER 103	
Hellewell v Chief Constable of Derbyshire	
[1995] 1 WLR 804; [1995] 4 All ER 473	175, 176, 197, 205
Henderson v Radio Corp Pty Ltd (1969) 86 RPC 218	455
Hickman v Maisey [1900] 1 QB 752	
Hilliard v Penfield Enterprises [1990] IR 38	147
Hinks v Hinks (2000) unreported	
Hivac v Park Royal Scientific Instruments Ltd	
[1946] Ch 169; [1946] 1 All ER 350	189
Hodgson v Imperial Tobacco [1998] 1 WLR 1056	
Hogan v Koala Dundee Pty Ltd (Crocodile Dundee case)	
(1989) 14 IPR 398	455
Horrocks v Lowe [1975] AC 135	
Hospital for Sick Children v Walt Disney	
[1967] 2 WLR 1250	525
Hough v London Express Newspapers Ltd	
[1940] 2 KB 507	
Houston v Smith [1993] CA Transcript 1544	129
Hubbard v Vosper [1972] 2 QB 84; [1972] 1 All ER 1023	
Hulton v Jones [1910] AC 20	74,75
Hunter v Canary Wharf [1997] 2 All ER 426	310, 311
Hutchinson Personal Communications Ltd	
v Hook Advertising Ltd [1995] FSR 365	255, 531
Hyde Park Residences v Yelland	
[2000] RPC 249; [1999] RPC 655	
2	62–67, 272, 275, 276
IPC Magazines Ltd v MGN Ltd [1998] FSR 431	270
IRC v Muller [1901] AC 217	
Incal v Turkey (2000) 29 EHRR 449	
Imperial Tobacco v HM AG [1981] AC 718	
III PCII II I DUCCO VIII AG [1701] AC / 10	

Table of Cases

Independent Television Publications Ltd	
v Time Out Ltd [1984] FSR 64	
Initial Services v Putterill [1967] 3 All ER 145	
Irving v Penguin Books Ltd (2000) unreported	62, 87, 88, 135
Jersild v Denmark (1995) 19 EHRR 407	21
John v Express [2000] 3 All ER 267, CA	385, 390–92, 394, 396
John v Mirror Group Newspapers [1996] 2 All ER 35; [1996] 3 WLR 593, CA	128, 130–32, 134, 135
John, Sir Elton v The Sport	
(1998) PCC adjudication, 4 June	320
Jones v Pollard (1996) unreported, CA	131
Jones v Skelton [1963] 1 WLR 1362; [1963] 3 All ER 952	
Joyce v Senagupta [1993] 1 All ER 897	
Jo-Y-Jo Ltd v Matalan Retail Ltd (1999) unreported	
Kaye v Robertson [1991] FSR 62	.157, 306, 311, 313, 437
Keays v Dempster [1994] EMLR 443	
Kemsley v Foot [1951] 2 KB 34, CA; [1951] 1 All ER 331	
Kenrick v Lawrence (1890) 25 QBD 93	
Khodaporast v Shad [2000] 1 All ER 545	
Khorasandijian v Bush [1993] 3 All ER 669	310
Kiam v Neil (No 2) [1996] EMLR 493, CA	
King Fratures Syndicate v Kleeman [1941] AC 417	
Knuller v DPP [1973] AC 435	
Knupffer v London Express Newspapers Ltd [1944] AC 116	
Kroch v Rossell [1937] 1 All ER 725	
LA Gear v Hi Tec [1992] FSR 121	
LB Plastics Ltd v Swish Products Ltd [1979] RPC 551	249
Ladbroke (Football) v William Hill (Football) [1964] 1 All ER 465	217 225 245
Lakeview Computer v Steadman (1999) unreported, CA	
Lego Systems v Lego M Lemelstrich [1983] FSR 155	
Lewis v Daily Telegraph [1964] AC 234	
Libellis Famosis 5 Co Rep 125a	
Lingens v UK (1986) 8 EHRR 103	
Lion Laboratories v Evans [1984] 2 All FR 417	

Liverpool CC v Irwin [1977] AC 236; [1976] 2 All ER 39	240, 241
London Artists v Littler	
[1968] 1 All ER 1075; [1968] 1 WLR 607	95, 107
Longdon-Griffiths v Smith [1951] 1 KB 295	98, 105
Lonrho, Re [1989] 2 All ER 1100	361
Loveless v Earl [1999] EMLR 530	100
Lucas Box v News Group Newspapers	
[1986] 1 All ER 177; [1986] 1 WLR 147	
Lyngstad v Anabas Products [1977] FSR 62	450
McCartney, Sir Paul v Hello	
(1998) PCC adjudication, 30 May	
McDonald's v Burger King [1986] FSR 45	
McDonald's v Steel and Morris (1999) unreported	87, 124, 125
Mackie Designs Inc v Behringer Specialised Studio	
Equipment (UK) Ltd [1999] RPC 717	
Macmillan Magazines v RCN Publishing [1998] FSR 9	53, 164
Malone v Metropolitan Police Commissioner	
(Jacob decision) [1979] 1 Ch 344	
Malone v UK (1984) 7 EHRR 14	
Mapp v News Group Newspapers [1997] NLJR 562	66, 67
Mark Wilkinson Furniture Ltd v Woodcraft Designs	446.40
(Radcliffe) Ltd [1998] FSR 63	
Maxwell v Pressdram [1987] 1 WLR 298	
Merivale v Carson (1990) 20 QB 275	
Microdata v Rivendale (1984) unreported	163, 164
Microsoft Corpn v Plato Technology	40
(1999) unreported	
Miller v Taylor (1769) 4 Burr 2303	168
Mirage Studios v Counter-Feat Clothing Co Ltd	450 452
(Ninja Turtles case) [1991] FSR 145	
Monson v Tussaud [1894] 1 QB 671	
Moorgate Tobacco v Philip Morris (1984) 56 ALR 193	
Morrison v Moat (1851) 9 Hare 241	
Muller v Switzerland (1991) 13 EHRR 212	
My Kinda Town v Soll [1982] FSR 147	37, 40
National Union of General and Municipal Workers	=^
v Gillan [1945] 2 All ER 593	
New York Times v Sullivan (1964) 376 US 254	

Table of Cases

Newspaper Licensing Agency v Marks & Spencer	
[1999] RPC 536; (2000) The Times, 15 June, CA	
	265, 267, 270
Nichols v Rees [1978] RPC 127	241
Norman v Future Publishing Ltd [1999] EMLR 325, CA	
Norowzian v Arks (No 1) [1998] FSR 394	
Norowzian v Arks (No 2) [2000] EMLR 1	217, 220, 223, 224, 226,
	246, 249, 298, 439, 540
Oberschlick v Austria (1991) 19 EHRR 389	114
Observer v UK (1991) 14 EHRR 153	
	182, 303, 368
Ocular Sciences v Aspect Visioncare [1997] RPC 289	
O'Mara Books v Express [1999] FSR 49	
O'Neill v Paramount Pictures Corpn	
[1983] Court of Appeal Transcript 235	228
Palumbo v De Maudsley	
See De Maudsley v Palumbo—	100
Pamplin v Express Newspapers [1988] 1 WLR 116	
Parmiter v Coupland (1840) 6 M & W 105	
Pasterfield v Denham [1999] FSR 168	
Pensher v Sunderland DC (1999) unreported	
Peter Pan v Corsets Silhouette [1963] 3 All ER 402	
Philip Parker v Steven Tidball [1997] FSR 680	
Plix Products v Frank M Winstone [1989] 2 All ER 1056	
Pollard v Photographic Co (1889) 40 Ch D 345	
Polly Peck (Holdings) v Trelford [1986] 2 All ER 84	
Potton v Yorkclose [1990] FSR 11	
Practice Direction [1983] 1 All ER 64	
Prager and Oberschlick v Austria (1996) 21 EHRR 1	
Prebble v Television New Zealand [1995] 1 AC 321	
Prince Albert v Strange (1849) 2 De G & Sm 652	
Pro Sieben v Carlton [1999] FSR 610	246, 258–60, 262, 267, 270
R v Adams (1888) 22 QBD 66	147
R v Anderson [1971] 3 All ER 1152	
R v Arundel Justices ex p Westminster Press	
[1985] 2 All FR 390	375

R v ASA ex p Direct Line (1997) unreported	
R v BSC ex p BBC (2000) unreported	
	327, 328, 490
R v Calder and Boyars Ltd [1968] 3 All ER 644	
R v Central Television [1994] 3 All ER 641	
R v Chief Metropolitan Stipendiary Magistrate	
ex p Choudhury (Satanic Verses case)	
[1991] 1 All ER 306	
R v Department of Health ex p Informatics	
[2000] 1 All ER 786	.173, 186, 197, 200, 212
R v Duffy [1960] 2 All ER 891	
R v Effick [1994] 3 WLR 583	
R v Gathercole (1838) 2 Lewin 237	418
R v Gibson [1990] 2 QB 619	
R v Graham-Kerr [1988] 1 WLR 1098	412
R v Horsham Justices ex p Farquharson [1982] 2 QB 800	374, 375
R v Kray (1969) 53 Cr App R 412	
R v Lemon [1979] 1 All ER 898	
R v Lewes Prison (Governor) ex p Doyle	
[1917] 2 KB 254, DC	
R v Panel of Takeovers and Mergers	
ex p Datafin [1987] 1 QB 815	
R v PCC ex p Stewart-Brady	
(1996) PCC adjudication, 18 November	
R v Reigate Justices ex p Argus Newspapers	
(1983) 5 Cr App(S) 181, DC	
R v Stamford [1972] 2 QB 391	
R v Staniforth [1976] 2 All ER 714	
R v Straker [1965] Crim LR 239	
R v Wicks [1936] 1 All ER 338	
R and B Customs Broker v UDT [1988] 1 WLR 321	
Rantzen v Mirror Group Newspapers	
[1993] 4 All ER 975	
Reader's Digest Association Ltd	
v Williams [1976] 3 All ER 737	
Reckitt and Colman Products Ltd v Borden Inc	440
(Jif Lemon Juice case) [1990] 1 WLR 491	
Redland Bricks v Morris [1970] AC 652	
Redrow Homes v Betts [1998] FSR 345	
Rees v Melville [1911–16] Mac CC 168	

Table of Cases

Regan v Taylor [2000] 1 All ER 307	
Reynolds v Times Newspapers Ltd	
[1998] 3 All ER 961, CA; [1999] 4 All ER 609, HL	21, 23, 80, 105, 107,
	109–11, 115–17, 210
Robert Bunn v BBC [1998] 3 All ER 552	
Robin Ray v Classic FM [1998] FSR 622	230, 235, 240–42, 500
Rookes v Barnard [1964] AC 1129	34, 35
Royal Baking Powder v Wright Crossley & Co	
(1900) 18 RPC 103	
Saad Al-Fagih v HM Saudi Research and Marketing	
(UK) Ltd (2000) unreported	
Saif Al Islam Gaddafi v Telegraph Group Ltd	
(1998) unreported	110, 113
Saltman Engineering v Campbell Engineering	4.54
[1963] 3 All ER 413	
Sands v McDougall (1917) CLR 49	
Schapira v Ahronson [1999] EMLR 735, CA	140
Schering Chemicalsv Falkman [1982] QB 1;	EO 191 92 100
[1981] 2 WLR 848; [1981] 2 All ER 321, CA	
* · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Secretary of State for Defence v Guardian Newspapers [1985] AC 339; [1984] 3 All ER 601; [1984] 3 WLR 986	386_88
Secretary of State for the Home Department	
v Central Broadcasting [1993] EMLR 253	53
Seager v Copydex [1967] 2 All ER 414	
Series 5 Software v Clarke [1996] 1 All ER 853	
Shah v Standard Chartered Bank [1998] EMLR 597	
Shaw v DPP [1962] AC 220	
Shelley Films Ltd v Rex Features [1994] EMLR 134	
Shetland Times v Wills [1997] FSR 604	
Shevill v Presse Alliance [1995] 2 AC 18	
Silkin v Beaverbrook Newspapers Ltd	
[1958] 2 All ER 516	
Sillitoe v McGraw-Hill Book Co Ltd [1983] FSR 545	
Sim v Stretch [1936] 2 All ER 1237	
Skuse v Granada Television [1996] EMLR 278	
Slim v Daily Telegraph [1968] 2 QB 171	
Smith v Probyn (2000) unreported	
Spering v IJK (1989) 11 FHRR 439	14

South Place Ethical Society, Re [1980] 3 All ER 918	419
Special Hospital Service Authority v Hyde	
[1994] BMLR 75	389
Spiliada Maritime Corpn v Consulex Ltd,	
The Spiliada [1987] AC 460	
Springsteen v Flute (1998) unreported	
Stephens v Avery [1988] Ch 449; [1988] 2 All ER 477	4, 185, 198
Stephenson Jordan v Harrison [1952] RPC 10	
Stern v Piper [1997] QB 123; [1996] 3 All ER 385; [1996] 3 WLR 715	
Stewart Brady v Express Newspapers (1994) unreported	
Stuart v Barrett [1994] EMLR 448	
Sunday Times v UK (1979) 2 EHRR 245	
Sutcliffe v Pressdram [1990] 1 All ER 269	
TARZAN TM [1970] RPC 450	457
Tavener Rutledge v Trexapalm [1977] RPC 99	
Taylor v Smeton (1883) 11 QBD 207	
Taylor and Taylor [1993] 98 Cr App R 983	
Telnikoff v Matusevitch [1991] 4 All ER 817, HL	
Thorgeirson v Iceland (1992) 14 EHRR 843	
Time Warner Entertainment Co plc v Channel Four	
Television Corpn plc [1994] EMLR 1	59, 265–68
Times Newspapers v Mirror Group Newspapers	
[1993] EMLR 443	179, 180
Timothy White v Gustav Mellin [1895] AC 154	159
Tolley v Fry [1931] AC 333	436
Tolstoy Miloslavsky v UK (1995) 20 EHRR 442	8, 131, 136
Tournier v Provincial Union Bank of England Ltd [1924] 1 KB 461	61
Trinity Mirror v Punch Ltd (2000) unreported	
Turner v MGM Pictures [1950] 1 All ER 449	
Turner v Performing Rights Society [1943] 1 Ch 167	
Tyrer v UK (1978) 2 EHRR 1	
1 y 1 C 1 (17/0) 2 EF IKK 1	/
Unic SA v Lyndeau Products (1964) 81 RPC 37	38
University of London Press v Universal Tutorial Press	
[1916] 2 Ch 601	217, 225

Table of Cases

Viscount de L'Isle v Times Newspapers	142
[1987] 3 All ER 499	
Vodafone v Orange [1997] FSR 34	9, 160
Walter v Lane [1900] AC 539	0, 237
Warner v Gestetner (1987) unreported	241
Warwick Films Production Ltd	
v Eisinger [1967] 3 All ER 367	245
Watts v Times Newspapers [1996] 1 All ER 152;	
[1996] 2 WLR 427	105
Wilkinson v Downton [1897] 2 QB 57	310
Williams v Reason [1988] 1 All ER 262	89, 90
Williamson Music v Pearson Partnership [1987] FSR 97	
Winer v UK (1986) 48 DR 154	
Wingrove v UK (1996) 24 EHRR 1	
Winyard v Tatler Publishing Co Ltd	
(1991) The Independent, 16 August	70
Whyte v DPP [1972] AC 849; [1972] 3 All ER 12	
Wombles v Wombles Skips [1977] RPC 99	451
Woodward v Hutchins [1977] 2 All ER 751	1, 209
X v Morgan-Grampian [1990] 2 WLR 1000;	
[1990] 2 All ER 1; [1991] 1 AC 1	92–96
X v Netherlands (1985) 8 EHRR 235	15
Youssoupoff v Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Pictures Ltd	
(1934) 50 TLR 581	51, 71
ZYX Music v King [1995] FSR 566	255

TABLE OF STATUTES

Bill of Rights 1689	Copyright Designs and
Art 9	Patents Act 198836, 215–18,
British Telecommunications	224, 225, 231,
Act 1981—	233, 234, 237,
s 49	243, 244, 250,
Broadcasting Act 1990405, 411, 413,	252, 253, 255–58,
476, 477	262, 269–71,
ss 8, 9	274, 279, 280,
s 162	282, 284, 285,
s 166	295, 297, 439,
s 203(1)	441, 443, 445, 540
Sched 15	s 3
Broadcasting Act 1996	s 3(1)
476, 478, 479	s 3(2)
s 107	s 3(3)
s 110	s 3A(2)225
\$ 110	ss 4, 5A
	s 5A(2)220
Cable and Broadcasting	ss 5B, 6
Act 1984—	ss 6A, 7, 8
Sched 5	s 9(1)
Children and Young	s 9(2)(aa), (ab), (b)–(d)
Persons Act 1933	s 9(3)
Cinemas Act 1985	s 9(4), (5)234
Civil Evidence Act 1968—	s 10
s 13(1)	s 11(1)
Contempt of Court	s 11(2)
Act 1981110, 351–53,	ss 12–15A
362, 365–68, 377	s 16
s 1	s 17(2)
s 2	s 17(3)
s 2(2)	s 17(4)
s 3	438, 439, 540
s 4	s 17(5)
s 4(2)	s 17(6)
s 5	s 18
s 6(c)	s 18A
s 7	s 19(1), (2)
s 10	s 20
389, 391, 392,	s 21
395–97	s 22
s 11	s 23
Sched 1	

Copyright Designs and	s 97(1), (2)	36
Patents Act 1988	s 101	507
(Contd)—	s 101(3)	508
s 23(a)–(c)	s 102(1)–(3)	508
ss 24, 25	ss 153–162	216
s 26	s 171(3)	272
s 27	s 178	233, 270
ss 28–76	s 180(2)	218
s 30	ss 180(4), 181, 182	292
s 30(3)	s 182B	293
s 31270, 307	s 182C	293
s 31(3)	s 182D	294
s 51	s 183(a)–(c)	294
s 52	s 184(1)(b)	294
s 58	ss 191B, 191F	293
s 62	s 191G	293, 294
s 77	ss 192, 197	294
s 78	s 206	292
s 79	s 213	445–47
s 79(4)	s 213(1)	443
s 80	s 213(2), (4)	444
s 81	ss 214(2), 215	448
ss 81(1), (6), 82(2)	s 215(2), (3)	449
s 83	s 216	442
s 84	ss 226(1)–(4), 227	
s 85	s 237(1)	
s 85(1)	Courts and Legal Services	
s 86	Act 1990	128, 129
s 87	s 8(2)	
s 89	Criminal Justice Act 1967—	
s 90(1)	s 25	401
s 90(2)	Criminal Justice Act 1988	
s 90(3)	s 159	
s 91	s 160	
s 91(3)	s 160(4)	
s 92(1)	Criminal Justice Act 1991—	
s 93B(1), (3), (5)	s 68	378
s 93C		
s 96507	Criminal Justice and	277
	Public Order Act 1994	
	s 49	
	s 90	414

Table of Statutes

Data Protection Act 1984	s 5(4)
Data Protection Act 1998 25, 30, 310,	ss 8–11
	s 9
331–38, 342,	s 13
344–46, 348,	s 14
349, 471,	3 14
490, 491 s 1(1)	II. P. L. A. (1000 2.4 (0.44
s 2	Human Rights Act 1998 3, 4, 6, 9, 11,
s 4	23, 27–31, 40,
	54–56, 79,
s 7	163–65, 168,
	180, 183, 206,
ss 10, 12	276, 306, 314,
s 13	325, 328, 368,
s 14	396, 408, 426,
ss 16–26	471, 490
s 32	s16
s 32(1)	s 2
s 32(4)	180, 390
s 40	s 3
s 42	ss 3(2), 4, 5
ss 43, 44	s 6
	325, 490
s 46	s 7
s 48	325, 329, 490
s 55	s 7(3)
Sched 1	s 8
Sched 2	s 9
Sched 9	s 10
Defamation Act 1952	s 11
s 3	s 12
s 3(1)(a)	41, 54, 133,
s 5	164, 180, 202,
s 12	315, 345, 396,
Defamation Act 1996 59, 81, 82, 85,	471, 491
100, 117, 121,	s 19
125, 126, 135,	Sched 2
136, 138	
s 1	Indecent Displays
s 1(2)	(Control) Act 1981413
s 1(3)	s 1(2), (3), (5)
s 1(5)	Interception of
ss 2–4	Communications
ss 5–6	Act 1985

Law of Libel Amendment	s 4
Act 1888—	s 5
s 3147	s 5(1)(a)(i), (ii)
s 8	s 5(4)(a), (b)
Libel Act 1843—	s 6
s 1	s 8(4)
s 5146	s 9
s 6	Parliamentary Papers
Lotteries and	Act 1840—
Amusements Act 1976463, 464	s 1
	Police and Criminal
Magistrates' Court	Evidence Act 1984
Act 1980—	Post Office Act 1953
s 8	s 11
	Protection from
Newspaper Libel and	Harassment Act 1997308, 309
Registration Act 1881	ss 1–4
registration / ret 1001 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	s 5
Ohaana Dubliastiana	Protection of Children
Obscene Publications Act 1959	Act 1978
410, 413	s 1
s 1	s 1(1)(a)
s 1(1)	s 1(3)
s 1(2), (3)	s 1(4)
s 2	s 7(1)
s 2(1), (3A)	Public Interest
s 2(4)	Disclosure Act 1998
s 3	
s 3(2)	Regulation of Investigatory
s 3(4)	Powers Act 2000
s 4	Rehabilitation of Offenders
409, 411, 418	Act 1974
Official Secrets Act 1911423, 424	s 8(3), (5)
s 1	
s 8	Security Services Act 1994—
Official Secrets Act 1920—	s 3
s 1	Sexual Offences
Official Secrets Act 1989 426, 427, 431,	(Amendment) Act 1976376
432, 511	s 4(3)
ss 1–4	Sexual Offences
s 2(4)	(Amendment) Act 1992376
s 3(5)	(

Table of Statutes

Supreme Court Act 1981—	Video Recordings Act 1984 414
s 356	s 1(2), (3)
s 69	s 4(1)(a)
s 69(1)	
s 69(3)	Wireless Telegraphy
s 72	Act 1949
Theft Act 1968—	Youth Justice and Criminal
s 20	Evidence Act 1999 373, 376, 378,
Theatres Act 1968	381, 382, 384
Trade Descriptions Act 1968	s 16
ss 12, 13	s 17
Trade Marks Act 1994	s 17(1)
s 10(1)–(3)	s 19(3)
s 11(2)	s 25
s 24524	s 44
s 28	s 45
	s 46
Unfair Contract Terms	s 62
Act 1977	
Unsolicited Goods and	
Services Act 1971	

TABLE OF STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

Civil Procedure Rules 1998 (SI 1998/3132)	34, 59, 144, 371, 373, 491
Pt 1	122
r1	122
rr 2, 3	123
r 39(2)	
s 39(3)	
Sched 1	56, 57
Control of Misleading Advertisements Regulations	
1988 (SI 1988/915)	
Control of Misleading Advertisements Regulations	
2000 (SI 2000/914)	483
Copyright and Related Rights Regulations	
1996 (SI 1996/2967)	215
reg 16	
Copyright and Rights in Databases Regulations	
1997 (SI 1997/3032)	
reg 14	
O	
Duration of Copyright and Rights in Performances	
Regulations 1995 (SI 1995/3297)	215. 231
regs 14–21, 23–25, 36	
1080 11 21, 20 20, 00 111111111111111111111	
Official Secrets (Prohibited Places) Order	
1994 (SI 1994/968)	423
1774 (31 1774/ 700)	
Rules of the Supreme Court—	
Ord 53	
Ord 53, r 7(1)	

TABLE OF INTERNATIONAL INSTRUMENTS

Directives	
95/45/EC (Data Protection Directive)	331
96/9/EC (Legal Protection of Databases Directive)	279, 282, 283
Art 2	282
Art 3	282
Art 4	283
Art 5	282
Art 5(4)	284
Art 6	284
Art 8	285
Digital Copyright Directive	
Treaties and Conventions	
Berne Convention for the Protection of Literary and Artistic	
Works 1886	216, 285
Art 6 <i>bis</i>	285
Brussels Convention on Jurisdiction and the Enforcement of	
Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters 1968	138, 139
Art 2	138
Art 5(3)	138
Art 52(2)	138
European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights	
and Fundamental Freedoms 1950	
	16, 18, 19, 23, 27, 28,
	31, 43, 52, 54–56,
	305, 315, 369, 408,
	419, 432, 492
Art 1	
Arts 2–12	
Arts 2–4	
Art 5	
Art 6	
Art 6(1)	371
Art 7	
Art 8	
	305, 312, 325
Art 8(2)	
Art 9	
Art 10	4, 15, 16, 20, 22, 27, 52,
	78, 112, 128, 134, 136,
	248 276 305 390 419

Media Law

European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950 (Contd)—	
Art 10(2)	
Arts 11–13	
Art 14	
Arts 15–19	
Protocol 1, Arts 1–3	
Lugano Convention on Jurisdiction and the Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters 1968	
Universal Copyright Convention 1952 (UCC)	216
World Intellectual Property Organisation Performances and Phonograms Treaty	295

PART 1

THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 AND THE MEDIA

Freedom of expression constitutes one of the essential foundations of a democratic society, one of the basic conditions for its progress, and for the development of every man.¹

The Human Rights Act 1998 ('the Act') has now come fully into force throughout the UK on 2 October 2000.² It is likely to have far-reaching implications for most, if not all, areas of civil and criminal law, including the law affecting the media.

The objective of the Act is stated to be 'to give further effect'³ in UK law to the majority of the rights provided for in the European Convention of Human Rights ('the Convention'). The Act does not create new substantive rights under domestic law, but it makes existing Convention rights more immediate and relevant.

THE CONVENTION

The Convention is a statement of rights and freedoms drawn up in 1950 in the aftermath of the Second World War. Its full title is 'the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms'. The objectives of the Convention are set out in the Convention's preamble. They include the maintenance and further realisation of human rights and fundamental freedoms, and the maintenance of effective political democracy. Section 1 of the Convention is headed 'Rights and Freedoms' and provides for a number of rights for citizens of Convention countries. Some of the rights and freedoms established by the Convention are absolute and others are subject to specific limitations. Where they apply, the limitations are designed to ensure respect for competing rights and freedoms or for other legitimate public purposes.

The Convention rights are as follows:

Art 2 – right to life;

Art 3 – prohibition of torture;

Art 4 – prohibition of slavery and forced labour;

- 1 Handyside v UK (1976) 1 EHRR 737, ECHR.
- 2 The Act is already in force in Scotland at the time of writing.
- 3 As stated in the long title to the Act.

Art 5 – right to liberty and security;

Art 6 – right to a fair trial;

Art 7 – no punishment without law;

*Art 8 – right to respect for private and family life;

*Art 9 – freedom of thought, conscience and religion;

*Art 10 – freedom of expression;

Art 11 – freedom of assembly and association;

Art 12 – right to marry;

*Art 13 – right to an effective remedy (for the violation of rights and freedoms provided for in the Convention);⁴

Art 14 – prohibition of discrimination on any ground (in relation to the rights and freedoms provided for in the Convention);

Art 15 – derogation in times of emergency;

Art 16 – restrictions on political activity of aliens;

Art 17 – prohibition on abuse of rights;

Art 18 – limitation on use of restrictions of rights.

The rights marked * are of particular relevance to media law and will be considered in further detail in this chapter and throughout this book.

There have been a number of protocols to the Convention since the early 1950s which have provided for additional rights and freedoms. The first protocol, which has been ratified by the UK, provides for the following additional rights:

Art 1 – right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions/property;

Art 2 – right to education;

Art 3 – right to free elections.

The sixth protocol provides, inter alia, for the abolition of the death penalty.

Section II of the Convention provides for the establishment of a European Court of Human Rights to function on a permanent basis.⁵ The Court was established at Strasbourg in 1959 to hear petitions against *States* who are

⁴ The right to an effective remedy is not amongst the 'Convention rights' provided for in the Act. The view of the Government is that the operation of the Act will by implication provide for an effective remedy (in particular, s 8 of the Act) and that an express inclusion of Art 13 would be unnecessary and would involve duplication. The decisions of the European Court of Justice under Art 13 will, however, be relevant under domestic law (an assurance given by the Lord Chancellor during the report stage of the Bill; Hansard, 19.1.1998, col 1266).

⁵ HRA 1998, Art 19.

signatories to the Convention. Complaints to Strasbourg may only be brought against Contracting *States*, rather than against private individuals or organisations who are domiciled or resident in those States. Since 1966, individual claimants in the UK have had the right to complain directly to the European Court in Strasbourg about alleged breaches of the Convention. Where a country is found to have violated a Convention right, the court's judgment does not have the automatic effect of changing the national law of the Contracting State, but the State is obliged to change its law in line with the Convention.

THE POSITION UNDER ENGLISH LAW BEFORE THE ACT CAME INTO FORCE

The Convention was ratified by Britain in 1951, but has never been directly incorporated into UK law. The lack of incorporation into UK law has meant that, whilst private litigants could, in some circumstances, complain to the European Court in Strasbourg that their Convention rights had been violated, they could not make any such complaint to the British courts. There was no domestic cause of action for breach of a Convention right.

Litigants who took their cases to Strasbourg faced a lengthy and expensive journey. On average, it took five to six years to get judgment from the European Court from the time of the petition being lodged, and all national avenues for complaint and appeal must previously have been exhausted.

The Convention, whilst not part of national law, has had a role to play prior to October 2000. By way of example, where the terms of legislation were ambiguous, the Convention might be used as an aid to construction.⁶ In addition, increasingly in the field of media law, the judiciary have had regard to the Convention in their decision making (although, in some instances, 'have regard to' has amounted to little more than paying lip service to). But there has been no *obligation* on the courts to apply the Convention or to follow Strasbourg jurisprudence in reaching their decisions.

⁶ For an example, see AG v Secretary of State for the Home Department ex p Brind [1991] 1 AC 696, p 760.

THE SCHEME OF THE ACT

The Act does *not* incorporate the Convention itself into UK law. It does, however, elevate the Convention and the jurisprudence of the Strasbourg Court from the sidelines to a central place in domestic law.

The focal point of the Act is the so called 'Convention rights'. These are defined in s 1 of the Act as meaning the rights set out in Arts 2–12 and 14 of the Convention, the rights provided for in the first protocol and the abolition of the death penalty contained in the sixth protocol. There is also provision for new rights to be added if further protocols to the Convention are ratified by the UK in the future.

The key effects of the Human Rights Bill were summarised by the Lord Chancellor in the following terms:

The Bill is based on a number of important principles. Legislation should be construed compatibly with the Convention as far as possible. Where the courts cannot reconcile legislation with Convention rights, Parliament should be able to do so – and more quickly, if thought appropriate, than by enacting primary legislation. Public authorities should comply with Convention rights or face the prospect of legal challenge. Remedies should be available for breach of Convention rights by a public authority.⁷

THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THE ACT

Interpretation

Duty to have regard to Strasbourg jurisprudence

• Section 2 of the Act provides that a court or tribunal determining a question which has arisen in connection with a Convention right must take into account any relevant jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights, whether judgment, decision, declaration or advisory opinion and whether or not it relates to a decision involving the UK. The national court or tribunal must also take into account any opinions or decisions of the European Commission of Human Rights and decisions of the Council of Ministers (although the Commission and Council ceased to have a judicial function in 1998). Significantly, the obligation is to 'take into account', rather than 'to follow'. Strasbourg jurisprudence will not be binding on

domestic courts in the same way as we think of precedents under English law.

Example

The *Daily Tabloid* is sued for defamation by the pop star Sharon Sparkle. The *Daily Tabloid* might claim in its defence that the defamation action interferes with the Convention right to freedom of expression. Under s 2 of the Act, the court must take into account the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights on the question whether the defamation action is a legitimate restriction on the right to freedom of expression. The court does not have to follow that jurisprudence, but it is under an obligation to take it into account.

The Lord Chancellor explicitly rejected the idea of including a statutory formula in the Act providing that Convention jurisprudence should bind the national courts. He observed that 'our courts must be free to develop human rights jurisprudence by taking into account European judgments and decisions, but they must also be free to distinguish them and to move out in new directions to the whole area of human rights law'.⁸

This move away from binding precedent is also in line with the approach of the Strasbourg Court itself, which tends not to regard its own decisions as binding on itself. For example:

- (a) the Convention has often been described by the Strasbourg Court as a *'living instrument'*, 9 to be interpreted afresh in the light of prevailing conditions of the day, rather than by reference to earlier precedent;
- (b) the doctrine of the *margin of appreciation* is a further reason for rejecting the idea of a binding system of precedent under Strasbourg case law. The margin essentially allows each Contracting State leeway in determining what is compatible with the Convention, provided always that the actions of the State conform to the objectives of the Convention. The margin of appreciation is considered further below.

Statutory interpretation

Section 3 of the Act provides that, so far as it is possible to do so, primary legislation (such as Acts of Parliament) and subordinate legislation (for example, statutory instruments and Orders in Council) must be read and given effect to in a way which is compatible with Convention rights. This will apply whether or not the legislation was enacted before the Act came into force. The obligation to construe legislation in line with the

⁸ Hansard, HL, 24.11.1997, col 835.

⁹ Tyrer v UK (1978) 2 EHRR 1.

Convention is not limited to courts and tribunals. Everyone should construe legislation in this way.

Where primary legislation cannot be given effect to in a way which is compatible with Convention rights the legislation is *not* invalid. However, under s 4, certain courts 10 have discretion to make a *declaration of incompatibility* 11 where a provision of *primary* legislation is incompatible with a Convention right. The Crown has a right to notification and an opportunity to intervene in any proceedings where the court is considering whether to make a declaration of incompatibility. 12

A declaration of incompatibility will not affect the validity of the legislation,¹³ which will continue to apply unless and until the legislation in question is amended. Nor is the declaration binding on the parties to any legal proceedings in which it is made.

During the second reading of the Bill in the House of Commons, the Home Secretary, Jack Straw, observed that 'a declaration of incompatibility will not affect the continuing validity of the legislation in question. That would be contrary to the principle of the Bill. However, it would be a clear signal to the Government and Parliament that, in the court's view, a provision of legislation does not conform to the standards of the Convention ... it is likely that Government and Parliament would wish to respond to such a situation and would do so rapidly'.¹⁴

In relation to *subordinate* legislation, where it is not possible to construe such legislation in a way which is compatible with the Convention, the court should treat the subordinate legislation as invalid, unless the primary legislation under which the subordinate legislation was made prevents the removal of the incompatibility (when considering whether the primary legislation prevents the removal of the incompatibility, any possibility of revocation of the subordinate legislation should be disregarded). Where the primary legislation *does* prevent the removal of the incompatibility, the court has no discretion to find the subordinate legislation invalid and must give effect to it.

The obligation to construe legislation in line with the Convention is likely to have far-reaching effects on the way that the courts interpret legislation.

¹⁰ In England and Wales, the courts which may make a declaration of incompatibility are the House of Lords, the Court of Appeal, the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council and the High Court (s 4(5)).

¹¹ HRA 1998, s 4(2) for primary legislation and s 4(3) for subordinate legislation.

¹² Ibid, s 5.

¹³ *Ibid*, s 4(6).

¹⁴ Hansard, 16.2.1998, col 778.

¹⁵ HRA 1998, s 3(2).

Interpretations of legislation which were made before the Act came into effect may no longer apply. The courts are likely to move away from a technical way of construing legislation which focuses on the detailed meaning of particular words. Instead, it is probable that the courts will adopt a broader, more purposive construction dependent on the overall objective of the statute and the relevant Convention right. Lord Cooke described the change in approach in the following terms:

The clause will require a very different approach to interpretation from that to which UK courts are accustomed. Traditionally, the search has been for the true meaning; now it will be for a possible meaning that would prevent the making of a declaration of incompatibility 17 ... in effect, the courts are being asked [to apply] a rebuttable presumption in favour of the Convention rights

Jack Straw, the Home Secretary, assured Parliament that it was not the Government's intention that the courts should contort the meaning of words to produce implausible or incredible meanings.¹⁸

Where a provision of legislation is declared incompatible, the Act makes provision for amendment of the legislation by statutory instrument where a minister of the Crown considers there are compelling reasons for doing so, but only to the extent necessary to remove the incompatibility. 19 This introduces a new fast track procedure. Even primary legislation which has been declared to be incompatible with the Convention may be amended by way of this fast track procedure. It will no longer be necessary for the government of the day to wait for an opportunity to introduce the appropriate amendments to primary legislation into a crowded parliamentary timetable. The procedure will also be available if legislation appears to a minister to be incompatible with the Convention because of a finding of the European Court of Human Rights. The Act provides for two different procedures for amending legislation, which has been declared incompatible by domestic higher courts or by the European Court: a standard procedure under which prior parliamentary approval is required to the amendment and an emergency procedure, ²⁰ under which no prior approval is necessary.

There is no *obligation* on the government to amend offending legislation. If a piece of legislation were not to be amended, a disgruntled victim of a breach of a Convention right would have to pursue its remedies to the

¹⁶ Wadham, J and Mountfield, H, *Blackstone's Guide to the Human Rights Act*, 1999, London: Blackstone, has a useful commentary in this regard.

¹⁷ Hansard, HL, 3.11.1997, col 1272.

¹⁸ Hansard, 3.6.1998, col 422.

¹⁹ Section 10.

²⁰ Both are contained in Sched 2 to the Act.

- European Court of Human Rights. The domestic courts have no power to disapply or strike down the offending provision.
- Under s 19 (which has been in force since November 1998), a minister of the Crown in charge of a Bill in Parliament must, before the second reading of the Bill, make a statement to the effect that, in his view, the provisions of the Bill are compatible with the Convention rights (a statement of compatibility) or make a statement that, although he is unable to make a statement of compatibility, the Government nevertheless wishes the House to proceed with the Bill. In either case, the statement must be in writing and published in such a manner as the minister considers appropriate.²¹ The Lord Chancellor has indicated that a statement of compatibility will provide a 'strong spur' to the interpretation of legislation so as to render it compatible with the Convention.²²

Public authorities

Section 6 of the Act provides that it is unlawful for a *public authority* to act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right except where, as the result of provisions of primary legislation, the authority could not have acted differently²³ or where the authority was acting to give effect to provisions of primary legislation which cannot be read or given effect in a way which is compatible with the Convention rights.²⁴ Section 6 (and the complementary s 7) apply to public authorities only. Private individuals or businesses are under no direct obligation to behave compatibly with Convention rights.

For the purposes of s 6, an act includes a failure to act²⁵ where the failure is incompatible with a Convention right. It would appear that this would cover both deliberate and unintentional omissions.²⁶

The meaning of 'public authority'

The Act defines 'public authority' as 'any person whose functions are functions of a public nature'.²⁷ This definition is wide ranging and focuses on the nature of the acts performed by the authority, rather than the make up or

²¹ HRA 1998, s 19.

²² Tom Sargant Memorial Lecture, 16 December 1997: available on the LCD website.

²³ HRA 1998, s 6(2)(a).

²⁴ *Ibid*, s 6(2)(b).

²⁵ Ibid, s 6(6).

²⁶ Mike O'Brien, Hansard, 24.6.1998, col 1097.

²⁷ HRA 1998, s 6(3), although note that it does not include either House of Parliament (unless the House of Lords is acting in a judicial capacity, in which case, it is a public authority for those purposes (s 6(4))).

substance of the body itself. This approach is intended to be in line with Strasbourg jurisprudence where national States have been held to be responsible for the actions of authorities which carry out functions of a public nature. The question whether a particular body is a public authority will be for the courts. It is the sort of question which the courts are accustomed to considering in the context of judicial review proceedings. In deciding whether a party is a public authority for the purposes of the Act, the Government envisages that the court should consider the jurisprudence already developed in respect of judicial review applications.²⁸ The reader is referred to Chapter 2, where the application for judicial review is considered in more detail.

During the passage of the Bill, the Home Secretary explained that there are three categories of person for the purposes of the Act:

- obvious public authorities, for example, government departments and the
 police, all of whose functions will be public and so who will be caught by
 the Act in respect of everything that they do;
- *organisations which have a mix of private and public functions*, for example, private security firms which run prisons as well as providing security services for private organisations. These bodies will be public authorities in relation to their public role (and so will be subject to the Act in relation to those functions), but they will not be public authorities in relation to acts which they carry out which are private in nature.^{29, 30}
- organisations or individuals with no public functions against whom the Act will not be directly applicable.³¹

The Government gave the following indications during the passage of the Bill about organisations in the media industry which might be classified as public authorities (although it was stressed that the decision would ultimately be for the courts):

- the BBC would probably be regarded as a public authority, as it is 'plainly performing a public function'.³² Channel 4 might also be a public authority;
- the Press Complaints Commission is a body exercising public functions and, therefore, a public authority, but the press as a whole or as individual publications are not;³³

²⁸ Hansard, 17.6.1998, col 410.

²⁹ HRA 1998, s 6(5).

³⁰ During the passage of the Bill, the Lord Chancellor also gave the example of Railtrack, which as a public utility has public functions and so would qualify as a public authority in relation to those functions. On the other hand, if Railtrack was acting in its capacity of private property developer, that would probably be construed by the courts as being a private activity outside the scope of s 6 of the Act. *Hansard*, 24.11.1997, col 796.

³¹ Hansard, 17.6.1998, col 409.

³² Hansard, HL, 16.2.1998, col 776.

³³ Ibid, col 777.

 the Independent Television Commission exercises public functions and is therefore a public authority, but independent private television companies are unlikely to be.³⁴

Significantly, a court or tribunal is a public authority under the Act. This is an important point. It means that courts and tribunals must decide cases before them in a way which is compatible with the Convention. A failure to do so will be an unlawful breach of s 6.

Redress for unlawful acts of public authorities

Under s 7, a person who claims that a public authority has acted or proposes to act in a way which is unlawful under s 6 may take action against the authority, provided that he is a victim of the unlawful act.³⁵ There is *no* corresponding right of action for breach of a Convention right against a private person or against a body with a mixture of private and public functions where the conduct complained of relates to the private functions only. It follows that the Act does not provide for rights of action for breach of Convention rights as between private entities; only as against public authorities (the so called *'vertical effect'*).

The right to take action is limited to the victim of the unlawful act. Under Strasbourg jurisprudence, a victim is someone who has been, or will potentially be, directly affected by the unlawful act in question. Pressure groups are unlikely to fall within this definition.

The right of action against the public authority for its failure to act compatibly with the Convention may take one of two main forms as follows:

- the Convention right(s) may be relied on in any legal proceedings taken against or brought by a public authority, for example, as a defence to any proceedings or as a counterclaim or during the course of an appeal;³⁶ or
- the victim may bring specific proceedings against the public authority under the Act. This is a new type of action introduced by the Act based solely on a breach of the Convention rights. Remember that it will *not* be available for claims against non-public authorities.

The Act provides that proceedings against public authorities under s 7 must be commenced in the 'appropriate court or tribunal'.³⁷ A claim that a judicial decision is incompatible with the Convention may only be brought in the High Court or by the usual method of appeal. Any other claim under s 7 may

³⁴ Hansard, 16.2.1998, col 776.

³⁵ HRA 1998, s 7(1).

³⁶ Ibid, s 7(2).

³⁷ *Ibid*, s 7(1)(b) and (2).

be brought in any court. It is likely that the s 7 action may take the form of an application for *judicial review* or a new tort for breach of statutory duty. 38 In view of the fact that the action can only lie against public authorities and that the test to determine whether a body is a public authority will draw heavily on the law relating to judicial review, it is probable that an application for judicial review will be the most common method of obtaining s 7 redress.

Where it is alleged that a court or tribunal is in breach of s 6, the Act says that the claim for redress must take the form of an appeal using the conventional appeal procedure or, alternatively, an application for judicial review.³⁹

Time limit for bringing an action

Any proceedings for breach of a Convention right must be brought before the end of the period of one year beginning with the date on which the act complained of took place (or such longer period as the court or tribunal considers equitable, having regard to all the circumstances).⁴⁰ Note that where the procedures under which proceedings are brought provide for a shorter time limit, that shorter time limit will apply. In relation to judicial review an application must be made as promptly as possible and, in any event, within three months of the action complained of.

Remedies

A court which holds that a public authority has committed an unlawful breach of a Convention right may grant 'such relief or remedy or make such order within its powers as it considers just and appropriate'.⁴¹ The remedies include damages where the court is satisfied that an award is necessary to afford just satisfaction to the person in whose favour it is made.⁴² The decision whether to award damages and the amount of an award must be made in accordance with the principles of the European Court of Human Rights,⁴³ under which a successful applicant has no automatic entitlement to a damages

³⁸ Note that, in deciding whether a body has acted unlawfully, the courts cannot act as legislators.

³⁹ HRA 1998, s 9.

⁴⁰ Ibid, s 7(5).

⁴¹ Ibid, s 8.

⁴² Ibid, s 8(3).

⁴³ Ibid, s 8(4).

award. On some occasions, the court has found that the finding of violation of a Convention right is itself is sufficient to provide redress. 44

A person who relies on his Convention rights under s 7 does so without prejudice to any other right or freedom he has under any law having effect in the UK⁴⁵ or his right to bring proceedings on any other ground. The right to petition the European Court of Human Rights is thus preserved.

Impact of the Act

It is probable that the Act will have repercussions beyond claims against public authorities.

First, the obligation to have regard to Convention jurisprudence under s 2 of the Act and to construe legislation in a way which is compatible with the Convention under s 3 will apply whatever type of claim is before the court or tribunal, whether against a public authority or not. Although a claim which is not brought against a public authority cannot be based solely on breach of a Convention right, the court will have a duty to consider the Convention rights and Convention jurisprudence where the claim concerns Convention rights.

Secondly, there is an argument that, because courts and tribunals are themselves public authorities, any decision by the court which is incompatible with a Convention right will give rise to a claim against the court under s 7 – notwithstanding that the claim arose during the course of litigation between private entities. In this way, so it is argued, Convention rights will become relevant to all types of dispute (an indirect 'horizontal effect'). This approach is in line with government thinking. The Lord Chancellor has observed that 'we believe that it is right as a matter of principle for the courts to have the duty of acting compatibly with the Convention not only in cases involving public authorities, but also in developing the common law in deciding cases between individuals'. 46

THE CONVENTION RIGHTS

The two Convention rights which are of particular relevance to the media are the right to freedom of expression (Art 10) and the right to respect for private

⁴⁴ In *Soering v UK* (1989) 11 EHRR 439, the European Court held that the domestic remedy of judicial review was, in principle, an effective remedy for breaches of the Convention rights.

⁴⁵ HRA 1998, s 11.

⁴⁶ Hansard, 24.11.1997, col 783.

and family life (Art 8). Neither of these rights is absolute. The permitted limitations to each right are similar, but not identical.

The articles read as follows:

Article 10

- Everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers. This Article shall not prevent States from requiring the licensing of broadcasting, television or cinema enterprises.
- 2 The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society, in the interests of national security, territorial integrity or public safety, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, for the protection of reputation or rights of others, for preventing the disclosure of information received in confidence or for maintaining the authority and impartiality of the judiciary.

Article 8

- 1 Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his correspondence.
- 2 There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic well being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

The Strasbourg Court has indicated that Art 8 'does not merely compel the State to abstain from interference [with private and family life]: in addition to this primary negative undertaking, there may be positive obligations inherent in an effective respect for private and family life. These obligations may involve the adoption of measures designed to secure respect for private life even in the sphere of the relations of individuals between themselves'.⁴⁷

The Approach of the European Court of Human Rights to Art 8 and Art 10

When considering whether an interference with Convention rights is reconcilable with the Convention, the European Court of Human Rights adopts the following sequence of reasoning:

- Does the complaint in question actually concern a Convention right? The Court tends to take a wide approach to the scope of the Convention rights and so will readily find that the complaint concerns a Convention right.
- If so, can the interference about which complaint is made be justified as being compatible with the Convention? This involves consideration of the following matters:
 - (a) the interference must be prescribed by law;
 - (b) it must serve a legitimate purpose;
 - (c) it must be necessary in a democratic society; and
 - (d) it must not be discriminatory.

Looking at each of these criteria in turn.

Was the interference prescribed by law?

To be lawful, an interference with a Convention right must have a basis in law (common law or statute).

However, it will not be sufficient to show that the interference is based in law. The law itself has to be of sufficient quality. In order to be lawful, any interference with the Convention rights must be both *ascertainable* and *sufficiently precise*. If it is not, it will be an unlawful interference, no matter how laudable the purpose of the interference.

In Sunday Times v UK,48 the Court made the following observation:

The law must be adequately accessible: the citizen must be able to have an indication that is adequate in the circumstances of the legal rules applicable to a given case. Secondly, a norm cannot be regarded as 'law' unless it is formulated with sufficient precision to enable the citizen to regulate his conduct: he must be able – if need be with appropriate advice – to foresee, to a degree that is reasonable in the circumstances, the consequence which a given action may entail.

These consequences need not be foreseeable with absolute certainty; experience shows this to be unattainable. Again, whilst certainty is highly desirable, it may bring in its train excessive rigidity and the law must be able to keep pace with changing circumstances.

The test whether a measure is prescribed by law tends to be applied generously by the European Court. Absolute certainty about the scope of the law is not necessarily required. A law which confers a discretion on the part of the decision maker can be prescribed by law, provided that the scope of the discretion and the manner of its exercise are indicated with sufficient clarity to give adequate protection against arbitrary interference. ⁴⁹ The English law of blasphemy has been found to be sufficiently precise for the purposes of the Convention, notwithstanding the fact that a finding of blasphemy involves an element of subjectivity on the part of the court and the fact that the law had been criticised by the Law Commission as being unreasonably vague. ⁵⁰

In cases involving violations of the right to respect for private and family life, the European Court has twice found that the UK has permitted interception with telephone conversations by public authorities in circumstances where the interference was not prescribed by law.⁵¹ In neither case was the law sufficiently clear in its terms to give citizens an adequate indication about the circumstances in and conditions on which public authorities were empowered to resort to surveillance measures.

Was the aim pursued by the interference with the right legitimate?

The legitimate purposes which may justify an interference with freedom of expression or the right to respect for home and family life are set out in Arts 10(2) and 8(2) of the Convention. The purposes are drawn widely in the Convention and tend to be interpreted widely by the Court. For example, the phrase 'authority of the judiciary' in Art 10(2) has been interpreted to cover the machinery of justice as well as the members of the judiciary and, in particular, the notion that the courts are the proper forum for hearing disputes.⁵²

But an interference with a Convention right will not necessarily be compatible with the Convention simply by virtue of the fact that it falls within the limitations contained in the relevant Article. The Court has to be satisfied that the interference was necessary having regard to the circumstances of each particular case.

⁴⁹ Wingrove v UK (1996) 24 EHRR 1.

⁵⁰ Law Commission, Offences Against Religion and Public Worship, Working Paper No 79, 1981.

⁵¹ Malone v UK (1984) 7 EHRR 14 and Halford v UK (1997) 24 EHRR 523.

⁵² Sunday Times v UK (1979) 2 EHRR 245.

Was the interference necessary in a democratic society?

The requirement that the restriction should be necessary involves three considerations as follows:

- the interference must correspond to a pressing social need; and
- it must be proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued; and
- the State must give relevant and sufficient justifications for the interference.

The margin of appreciation

In assessing whether an interference with a Convention right is necessary, the European Court permits Contracting States to exercise a margin of appreciation. The margin is essentially a device adopted by the Strasbourg Court to facilitate its functioning as an international court. As a court for all signatories to the Convention, the Strasbourg Court must give rulings which are acceptable to a variety of States which may have radical different cultures and outlooks (within the general parameters of a democratic society). What offends against the morals of the majority of citizens in one State may be perfectly acceptable to citizens of another and the margin recognises that, in many respects, the individual State is in a better position to make judgments as to what is necessary and proportionate than the international court.

The margin enables the State to use its discretion in deciding whether there is a pressing social need for a particular limitation of a Convention right and, if there is, in deciding the nature of the measure which should be invoked to meet the need. The width of the margin will vary according to the nature of the interference in question. Where no common standard exists throughout Contracting States, the margin will be relatively wide. This will particularly be the case where the interference is for the protection of morals or religion, where Contracting States are likely to have different opinions as to the standard which should prevail.⁵³ This point was expressly recognised by the Strasbourg Court in relation to laws which seek to uphold moral values:

By reason of their direct and continuous contact with the vital forces of their countries, State authorities are in principle in a better position than the international judge to give an opinion on the exact content of those requirements [of morals] as well as on the 'necessity' of a 'restriction' or 'penalty' intended to meet them. 54

However, the margin of appreciation must be exercised subject to the supervisory jurisdiction of the Strasbourg Court. The task of the Court is not

⁵³ Wingrove v UK (1996) 24 EHRR 1.

⁵⁴ *Handyside v UK* (1976) 1 EHRR 737, paras 48–49.

to take the place of the national authority by substituting its own judgment, but rather to review the decision of the national State in the light of the case as a whole, to ensure that the interference is proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued and in line with the objectives of the Convention. Where a wide margin is appropriate, the international court should only intervene if the national decision cannot reasonably be justified.⁵⁵ On the other hand, where the issue involves a commonly recognised standard, such as the importance of enabling freedom of political discussion in a democratic society, the margin (or each State's room for the exercise of discretion in putting in place limitations on political discussion) will be much more restricted.

When the Human Rights Bill was going through Parliament, the Home Secretary observed that 'we are giving a profound margin of appreciation to the British courts to interpret the Convention in accordance with British jurisprudence as well as European jurisprudence'.⁵⁶

In other words, the margin of appreciation provides a rationale for rejecting the idea of a binding system of precedent in respect of the decisions of the Strasbourg Court, particularly those decisions to which the UK is not a party. Whether this will lead to our national courts watering down the impact of the Convention rights by finding a way to distinguish Strasbourg judgments remains to be seen.

Non-discrimination

Under Art 14, any interference with a Convention right must not discriminate in a way which has no objective or reasonable justification.

It is probable that the English criminal law of blasphemy, which is considered in further detail in Chapter 12, offends against Art 14 of the Convention. The law of blasphemy operates in a discriminatory fashion in that it offers redress only against material which offends against the established Anglican Church. In recent times, a cause of action has been denied to Muslims who sought to prosecute Salman Rushdie for blasphemy in respect of his novel *The Satanic Verses*. The prosecution was struck out on the ground that the blasphemy laws do not offer protection to Muslims.⁵⁷

⁵⁵ Wingrove v UK (1996) 24 EHRR 1.

⁵⁶ Hansard, 3.6.1998, col 424.

⁵⁷ R v Chief Metropolitan Stipendiary Magistrate ex p Choudhury [1991] 1 All ER 306.

The right to freedom of expression (Art 10)

The Strasbourg Court has interpreted freedom of expression as extending to a wide variety of material, such as:

- works of art;⁵⁸
- the freedom of commercial expression, for example, the freedom to advertise;⁵⁹
- information or ideas which offend, shock or disturb as well as to those which are favourably received or regarded as inoffensive or as a matter of indifference;⁶⁰
- importantly, the right includes not only the right to impart information and ideas, but equally the right to receive them.

The Court has consistently reiterated that freedom of expression constitutes one of the essential foundations of a democratic society. Nevertheless, it recognises that it is not an absolute right. As we have seen, the right to freedom of expression is subject to the exceptions set out in Art 10(2) of the Convention. The Strasbourg Court has stressed that the exceptions in Art 10(2) must be narrowly interpreted in every case.⁶¹ It is not simply a question of balancing the right to freedom of expression against the exception in any particular case. In the *Sunday Times* case, the Court observed that:

The Court is faced not with a choice between two conflicting principles, but with a principle of freedom of expression that is subject to a number of exceptions which must be narrowly interpreted. 62

The interpretation of any limitation focuses on whether the limitation is necessary and proportionate, and on the justification for exercising it.

The Court has imposed varying degrees of necessity and proportionality, which it has applied to limitations on the expression of different types of material.

Material in the public interest

When considering whether an interference with freedom of expression is necessary, regard must be had to whether the material in question involves questions of public interest.⁶³ Whilst it is not the case that the right to freedom of expression only protects material which is in the public interest, material of

⁵⁸ Muller v Switzerland (1991) 13 EHRR 212.

⁵⁹ Ibid.

⁶⁰ Observer v UK (1991) 14 EHRR 153.

⁶¹ *Ibid*.

⁶² Sunday Times v UK (1979) 2 EHRR 245.

⁶³ Bladet Tromso-Stensaas v Norway (1999) 28 EHRR 534.

that quality is afforded special protection. The Court has often observed that the most careful scrutiny on the part of the Court is called for when the interference in question is capable of discouraging the participation of the media in debate over matters of legitimate public concern.⁶⁴

The Court has explicitly recognised that it is incumbent on the press to impart information and ideas on matters of public interest. Not only does the press have the task of imparting such information and ideas, but the public also has a right to receive them. Were it otherwise, the Court has observed, the press would be unable to play its vital role of 'public watchdog'.⁶⁵

Public authorities, the Government and politicians

The Strasbourg Court has imposed particularly strict limits on the interference with the publication of facts and opinions which refer to the activities of *public authorities*. ⁶⁶ This is on the basis that it is essential to put the public in a position where it can keep a critical control on the exercise of public power. The limits of permissible criticism of the *Government* are wide: '... in a democratic system, the actions or omissions of government must be subject to the close scrutiny of legislative and judicial authorities and public opinion'. ⁶⁷ Similarly, the limits of acceptable criticism are wider as regards a *politician* than as regards a private individual. A politician is deemed to have knowingly laid himself open to close scrutiny of his every word and deed by journalists and by the public at large, and he must display a greater degree of tolerance: '... the requirements of the protection of reputation has to be weighed in relation to the interests of open discussion of political issues.' ⁶⁸ English law has also acknowledged this distinction between private and public, at least in relation to breach of confidence and defamation cases.

The Court has found that the exercise of freedom of expression is particularly important for elected representatives of the people 70 and for political parties and their active members. 71

⁶⁴ Jersild v Denmark (1995) 19 EHRR 407.

⁶⁵ Observer v UK (1991) 14 EHRR 153.

⁶⁶ Thorgeirson v Iceland (1992) 14 EHRR 843.

⁶⁷ Incal v Turkey (2000) 29 EHRR 449.

⁶⁸ Lingens v Austria (1986) 8 EHRR.

⁶⁹ Breach of confidence: AG v Jonathan Cape [1976] QB 752; defamation: Reynolds v Times Newspapers Ltd [1999] 4 All ER 609, HL.

⁷⁰ Castells v Spain (1992) 14 EHRR 445.

⁷¹ Incal v Turkey (2000) 29 EHRR 449.

Other types of information

As regard other categories of information/ideas, States are granted a wider margin of appreciation when deciding whether restrictions on freedom of expression are necessary and proportionate to meet a pressing social need. There is relatively wide scope for a State to interfere with right to freedom of expression where the limitation is not capable of discouraging the participation of the media in matters of legitimate public concern; nor does it stifle criticism of public authorities, etc. This is considered further in the chapters relating to breach of confidence, privacy, defamation and copyright laws.

Journalists' sources

Another area in which freedom of expression plays an important role is the enforced disclosure by journalists of the identity of their sources. The European Court has held that, if journalists are forced to disclose their sources, the role of the media as public watchdog could be seriously undermined, because of the effect such disclosure would have upon the free flow of information. An order for the disclosure of sources cannot, according to the Court, be compatible with Art 10, unless there is an overriding public interest in identifying the source.⁷² We shall see in Chapter 11 that it is at least arguable that English law concerning the disclosure of sources has been applied in a way which cannot be reconciled with the Convention.

Duties and responsibilities

In every case involving freedom of expression, the media must not overstep the boundaries set out in Art 10(2). Their duty is to impart information and ideas on all matters of the public interest in a manner which is compatible with their obligations under the Convention.

Article 10(2) points out that freedom of expression carries duties and responsibilities. The safeguards afforded by Art 10 to journalists in reporting matters of public interest is accordingly subject to the proviso that the media must act in good faith in order to provide accurate and reliable information in accordance with the ethics of journalism.⁷³ The judgment as to whether these standards have been met depends on the facts of the particular case. In the *Bladet-Tromso* case, a newspaper reported on alleged violations of seal hunting regulations. The article was, in large part, based on, and quoted from, an

⁷² Goodwin v UK (1996) 22 EHRR 123.

⁷³ Bladet Tromso-Stensaas v Norway (1999) 28 EHRR 534.

official report. The newspaper had not carried out independent research in order to verify the findings of the official report and was sued for defamation. The question arose as to whether Norwegian libel law was compatible with the right to freedom of expression. The European Court noted that no independent research had been carried out by the newspaper to verify the official report. It observed that, where assertions of fact are made, the ordinary obligation on the media is to verify statements which were defamatory of individuals, unless there were any special grounds for dispensing with this requirement. However, the media were normally entitled, when contributing to a public debate on matters of legitimate concern, to rely on the contents of official reports without having to undertake independent research. Otherwise, their vital watchdog role would be undermined. This line of reasoning which emphasises the importance of ensuring that information is accurate and reliable was also displayed by the House of Lords in *Reynolds v Times Newspapers Ltd*⁷⁴ (considered in further detail in Chapter 3).

In construing whether the media had acted in good faith, the Court in the *Bladet-Tromso* case cited with approval an earlier judgment on a similar question, where it was stated that journalistic freedom also covers possible recourse to a degree of exaggeration or even provocation⁷⁵ – although the permissible limits of this type of reporting will depend on the facts of each case.

Freedom of expression, privacy and the Human Rights Act 1998

The media initially feared that the implementation of the Act would give fresh impetus to the development of a legally enforceable right to privacy in English national law, which would have the effect of limiting the media's freedom of expression. As a result of strenuous lobbying by the media, a new clause was added to the Human Rights Bill relating specifically to the right to freedom of expression. That clause is now s 12 of the Act. It is in the following terms:

- (1) This section applies if a court is considering whether to grant any relief which, if granted, might affect the exercise of the Convention right to freedom of expression.
- (2) If the person against whom the application for relief is made ('the respondent') is neither present nor represented, no such relief is to be granted unless the court is satisfied:
 - (a) that the applicant has taken all practicable steps to notify the respondent; or
 - (b) that there are compelling reasons why the respondent should not be notified.

⁷⁴ Reynolds v Times Newspapers Ltd [1999] 4 All ER 609, HL.

⁷⁵ Prager and Oberschlick v Austria (1996) 21 EHRR 1.

- (3) No such relief is to be granted so as to restrain publication before trial, unless the court is satisfied that the applicant is likely to establish that publication should not be allowed.
- (4) The court must have particular regard to the importance of the Convention right to freedom of expression and, where the proceedings relate to material which the respondent claims, or which appears to the court, to be journalistic, literary or artistic material (or to conduct connected with such material), to:
 - (a) the extent to which:
 - (i) the material has, or is about to, become available to the public; or
 - (ii) it is, or would be, in the public interest for the material to be published;
 - (b) any relevant privacy code.
- (5) In this section:

'court' includes a tribunal; and

'relief' includes any remedy or order (other than in criminal proceedings).

Points to note about s 12

Section 12 will apply in any case where a court or tribunal is considering granting relief which might affect the right to freedom of expression, not just to cases involving freedom of expression and questions involving privacy. The section is not limited to cases to which a public authority is a party.⁷⁶ It applies to any person whose right to freedom of expression might be affected, including the media.

The Home Secretary explained⁷⁷ that under sub-s 2, interim injunctions applied for without notice (*ex parte* injunctions) will be granted only in 'exceptional circumstances', where all practicable steps have been taken to notify the respondent or where there are compelling reasons why the respondent should not be notified. In relation to what might amount to 'compelling reasons', the Home Secretary thought that it might arise in a case raising issues of national security where the mere knowledge that an injunction was being sought might cause the respondent to publish the material immediately. He said that the Government did not anticipate that the limb would be used often.⁷⁸

Sub-section 3 deals with interim injunctions generally where they might affect the right to freedom of expression, whether applied for with or without notice. An interim injunction is a prior restraint measure. Before an interim

⁷⁶ The Home Secretary, Hansard 2.7.1998, col 536.

⁷⁷ Ibid.

⁷⁸ Ibid.

injunction is granted, *the court must be satisfied that the applicant is likely to establish at trial that publication should not be allowed.* The onus of establishing a likelihood of success on the merits is on the applicant for the injunction.⁷⁹ The Home Secretary explained that the courts must consider the merits of the application. Interim injunctions should not be granted simply to preserve the status quo between the parties (the reader is referred to Chapter 2, where the significance of the status quo test and interim injunctions is explained).

In relation to all forms of relief which might affect freedom of expression (whether interim or not and whether an injunction or other type of relief), subs 4 provides that the court must have particular regard to certain matters.

First, it must have regard to the importance of the Convention right to freedom of expression. As we have seen, the European Court regards freedom of expression as an essential foundation of democracy and considers that permitted limitations of the right must be narrowly interpreted.

In addition, where the proceedings relate to material which the respondent claims, or which appears to the court, to be journalistic, literary or artistic material, the court should have regard to certain extra factors. 'Journalistic, literary or artistic material' is not defined in the Act. Will the mere fact that the media publishes the material mean that it will be deemed to be published for journalistic purposes or will the media have to establish also that the material is newsworthy or is to be used for reporting current events? This point has to be clarified. It is likely that, over time, a body of case law will emerge to define the meaning with greater precision. The European Court of Human Rights has emphasised the media's role as public watchdogs. Media activities which fall within this watchdog role will almost certainly fall within the definition of journalism.

The phrase 'journalistic, literary or artistic purposes' also appears in the Data Protection Act 1998.⁸⁰ Case law under that Act might help to clarify the definition.

The extra factors which the court must have regard to when the proceedings relate to journalistic, literary or artistic material are:

(a) the extent to which the material is or is about to become available to the public. This factor is aimed at avoiding the type of situation which arose in the *Spycatcher* litigation, where the publication of a book was restrained in the UK as being in breach of confidence at the same time as it was freely available elsewhere in the world. The Home Secretary has explained that, under s 12, where the material at issue will shortly be available anyway in another country or on the internet, it must affect the decision whether it is appropriate to restrain publication in this country.⁸¹

⁷⁹ Home Secretary, *Hansard*, 2.7.1998, col 356.

⁸⁰ Considered in Chapter 9.

⁸¹ Home Secretary, *Hansard*, 2.7.1998, col 538.

The Home Secretary observed that 'there is no direct qualification to the word "public" in the new clause. Ultimately, it would be a matter for the courts to decide, based on common sense and proportionality. The fact that the information was available across the globe in very narrow circumstances would be weighed in the balance ... [the courts] would also take into account the extent to which the information was available in another country or on the internet, but in each case, the courts would have to apply balance and proportionality',82

(b) in relation to journalistic, literary or artistic material, the court must also have regard to the extent to which it is, or would be, in the public interest for the material to be published. The scheme of the Act suggests that public interest is a factor to take into account in the context of the relative importance of the right to freedom of expression in a particular case, rather than as a prerequisite to the right to freedom of expression being invoked at all. The Parliamentary Under Secretary of State at the Home Office indicated that the basic question is whether the public should have particular information. Examples of information which the public should have were put forward as information which might have an effect on proper political discourse or a matter of public policy or that might affect individual behaviour. These areas, according to the Under Secretary of State, were matters in which there is a proper public interest in revealing information. He gave the example of information about BSE which, he said, might have affected a person's decision about whether or not to eat beef if it had been made available. He observed that a judge would have to ask 'is a matter only of interest to the public, or is it a matter of public interest? There should be some good reason why the public should know':83

Domestic case law interpreting the phrase 'the public interest' is discussed in Chapter 5.

(c) the court must, in relation to journalistic, literary and artistic material, also have regard to any relevant privacy code (such as the Press Complaints Commission Code of Practice, the Independent Television Commission Code, the Advertising Standards Authority Code of Practice and the BBC Producers' Guidelines). The fact that the media has complied with the relevant Code of Practice, or conversely if it is in breach of the Code, is one of the factors which the court should take into account in deciding whether or not to grant relief. Note that it will not be determinative. It is open for the courts to grant relief in circumstances where the privacy provisions of the Codes have been complied with, for example, where the court is of the view that the Codes do not create sufficiently stringent requirements. The Home Secretary indicated that 'the higher the conduct

⁸² Hansard, 2.7.1998, col 540.

⁸³ Ibid, col 562.

required [by the Code], the better for the public and – this is why the provision created a virtuous circle – the better the defence available under the new clause to a newspaper [or other media entity], should it be subject to an application for relief'.⁸⁴ It is therefore possible that a sufficiently stringent privacy code could be elevated into the *de facto* legal standard for the protection of privacy in the context of the media. It would be enforced not through the courts, but through the regulatory authorities such as the PCC or the ITC. This view was echoed by the Lord Chancellor when he said 'it is strong and effective self-regulation if it – and I emphasis the "if" – provides adequate remedies which will keep these cases away from the courts'.⁸⁵ The privacy provisions of the various codes are considered further in the chapter on privacy.

Section 12 as a whole is intended to regulate the relationship between freedom of expression and other competing rights, including rights of privacy. The Government rejected an amendment to the Bill which would automatically favour Art 10 (freedom of expression) over Art 8 (respect for private and family life). As the Home Secretary explained:

The difficulty with that is that it goes further than the terms of the Convention and Strasbourg case law. Nothing in the Convention suggests that any one right is normally to be given precedence over any other right ... so far as we are able, in a manner consistent with the Convention and its jurisprudence, we are saying to the courts that whenever there is a clash between Art 8 and Art 10 rights, they must pay particular attention to the Art 10 rights.⁸⁶

Sub-section 4 does not simply relate to journalistic, literary or artistic material, but also conduct connected with such material. It is intended to apply where inquiries or research is ongoing, although the actual material in question is yet to be produced.⁸⁷

The section does not apply to freedom of expression issues which arise in criminal proceedings. However, the Home Secretary stressed that criminal courts, like other courts, are required to act in a way that is not incompatible with the Convention right.⁸⁸

The development of a right to privacy in the wake of the Human Rights Act 1998

English law does not presently recognise a right to privacy as such. Will it be obliged to do so in order to give effect to Art 8 of the European Convention?

⁸⁴ Hansard, 2.7.1998, col 539.

⁸⁵ Hansard, 3.11.1997, col 1229.

⁸⁶ Hansard, 2.7.1999, col 542-43.

⁸⁷ Hansard, 2.7.1998, col 540.

⁸⁸ Ibid.

The Lord Chancellor has made it clear that the Act does not represent the introduction of a privacy statute.⁸⁹

This question may be academic. The courts had already begun to enforce rights to privacy indirectly, notably through the law relating to breach of confidence, and this trend looks set to continue. In addition, as we have seen, the scheme of s 12 of the Act places emphasis on the provisions of the media industry codes when a court is called upon to adjudicate on issues of privacy. Over time, the codes may be transformed into a *de facto* legal right to privacy, at least in so far as the media are concerned.⁹⁰

The Lord Chancellor has made it clear that the courts will not be permitted to act as legislators in the creation of a right of privacy where there is no existing statutory or common law right to do so:

In my opinion, the court is not obliged to remedy the failure by legislating via the common law either where a Convention right is infringed by incompatible legislation or where – because of the absence of legislation – say, privacy legislation – a Convention right is left unprotected. In my view, the courts may not act as legislators and grant new remedies for infringement of Convention rights unless the common law itself enables then to develop new rights or remedies. ⁹¹ I believe that the true view is that the courts will be able to adapt and develop the common law by relying on existing domestic principles in the laws of trespass, nuisance, copyright, confidentiality and the like, to fashion a common law right to privacy.

A disgruntled person unable to obtain redress under domestic law for an alleged infringement of privacy could pursue a claim to the European Court of Human Rights. However, there would be no guarantee of success. In *Winer v UK*, 92 the European Commission of Human Rights did not consider that the absence of an actionable right to privacy to show a lack of respect for the applicant's private life. 93

An overview of the likely impact of the Human Rights Act on media law

The English courts have increasingly had an eye to the Convention when considering matters involving freedom of expression, despite there being no obligation to do so. The House of Lords have felt able to pronounce on at least two occasions⁹⁴ that English common law in the field of freedom of expression issues is consistent with the requirements of the Convention.

⁸⁹ Hansard, 3.11.1997, col 1229.

⁹⁰ This is discussed further in Chapter 8.

⁹¹ Hansard, 24.11.1997, col 783.

⁹² Winer v UK (1986) 48 DR 154.

⁹³ The possibility of a claim in breach of confidence rather than privacy may also lead to an application to the Strasbourg Court being dismissed: *Spencer v UK*. This is considered further in Chapter 5.

⁹⁴ Lord Keith [1993] AC 534, p 658; Lord Templeman and Lord Goff [1987] 1 WLR 1248.

So, what changes is the Act likely to bring? Specific areas of the law are considered in the relevant chapters in Part 1 of this book. But, on an overview basis, it is suggested that the Act is likely to herald a change of approach in decision making in at least the following ways:

(a) prior to the Act, freedom of expression was not recognised by the English courts as an enforceable right. It was one of the many residual freedoms which permeated English law. As Lord Donaldson explained, 'the starting point of our domestic law is that every citizen has a right to do what he likes, unless restrained by common law or by statute'.⁹⁵ In other words, 'you have the right to say that which you are not otherwise restrained from saying'. This approach leaves the nature and extent of our 'freedoms' at the whim of the legislature and the judiciary. There is no obligation to preserve rights. Erosions of the extent of the rights can take place gradually and virtually unnoticed.

Under the Act, English law must give further effect to the *right* of freedom of expression. The existence of the right is presupposed and will be the starting point for any consideration of the question whether a particular restraint on the right is justifiable. This is likely to have a profound effect on the focus of arguments before a court. A submission seeking to give effect to a recognised right will have a stronger focus than an application which is seeking to demonstrate a negative such as an absence of any restriction on a residual freedom. This change in focus ought to put the media in an overall stronger position;

(b) the change in focus is not merely cosmetic. Traditionally, the English courts have viewed freedom of expression not as a stand alone right or freedom, but as a consideration to be weighed in the balance in any particular case against competing factors (for example, the need in that case to protect of the rights of others or the administration of justice).

This demotion of freedom of expression from an absolute value to an issue whose importance will vary depending on the other factors present in a particular case has given rise to numerous examples where freedom of expression has been overridden. As Lord Hoffman has observed:

There are in the law reports many impressive and emphatic statements about the importance of freedom of speech and the press. But they are often followed by a paragraph which begins with the word 'nevertheless';96

⁹⁵ AG v Guardian Newspapers (No 2) [1990] AC 109.

⁹⁶ R v Central Television [1994] 3 All ER 641, p 650.

(c) this failure to protect freedom of expression is not just because freedom of expression is reduced to just one of the competing factors in the decision making process. It also stems from the fact that the courts have tended to see freedom of expression narrowly, in terms of the particular publication at issue. But freedom of expression also involves a wider and subtler aspect. There is a wider public interest in freedom of expression, which may be damaged if a limitation of freedom of expression is allowed in a particular case. 97 Organisations such as the media might be deterred from reporting on comparable matters if they face the prospect of large damages awards and court costs (the so called chilling effect). Sources may be deterred from coming forward if they face the prospect of identification and legal action. So notwithstanding that a particular outcome may be justified in a particular case, the courts should bear in mind the wider effect which the judgment might have on freedom of speech generally. We shall examine the failure of the courts to pay adequate regard to the wider public interest in the context of disclosure of sources, where the failure has been most easily apparent, in Chapter 11, but it is a failure which has permeated throughout media law.

In R v Central Television, 98 Lord Hoffman went on to say, with words which illustrate the new approach which the Act ought to herald:

The motives which impel judges to assume a power to balance freedom of speech against other interests are almost always understandable and humane on the facts of the particular case before them ... But a freedom which is restricted to what judges think to be responsible or in the public interest is no freedom. Freedom means the right to publish things which government and judges, however well motivated, think should not be published. It means the right to say things which 'right thinking people' regard as dangerous or irresponsible. This freedom is subject only to clearly defined exceptions laid down by common law or statute ... It cannot be too strongly emphasised that outside the established exceptions, there is no question of balancing freedom of speech against other interests. It is a trump card which always wins.

Or, in the words of the European Court:

The Court is faced not with a choice between two conflicting principles, but with a principle of freedom of expression that is subject to a number of exceptions which must be narrowly interpreted;⁹⁹

(d) the fourth main change in approach is likely to be a move away from decisions based on technical points of detail towards broader, more

⁹⁷ It is interesting to note that the Data Protection Act 1998 (considered in Chapter 9) refers to the need to have regard to the *public interest* in freedom of expression. This implies a recognition on the part of the legislature that public interest extends beyond the particular material concerned.

⁹⁸ R v Central Television [1994] 3 All ER 641, p 650.

⁹⁹ Sunday Times v UK (1979) 2 EHRR 245.

purposive decisions. The spirit of the Convention must be kept in mind by the judiciary. There are a number of cases considered in Part 1 of this book which reflect a technical analysis of the law on the part of the courts. ¹⁰⁰ It remains to be seen whether the change in approach which the Act promises will lead to a greater emphasis on the broad effect which a particular decision would have on the ability of citizens to exercise their Convention rights, rather than an introverted examination of technical legal principle.

¹⁰⁰ Eg, Hyde Park Residences v Yelland [2000] RPC 249; and Telnikoff v Matusevitch [1991] 4 All ER 817.